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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

PAUL HICKS,

Plaintiff,

v Civil Action No. 15-1828CKK)

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
(March 30, 2018)

Plantiff Paul Hicks is an AfricarAmerican who was in himid-sixties when Defendant
District of Columbia terminated his job &irector of Medicaid Auditan the Office of the
Inspector General. He does not acd@plfiendants argument thate was fired because of alleged
poor performance. Rathétaintiff argues that his dismissal was attributable to his race, his age,
andretaliation for his insistendbat Defendantomply withcertainallegedreporting obligations
for Defendant’s alleged violations of Medicaid regulations.

Defendant presently seeks summary judgment as to all of Plairdi#fims. Upon
consideration othe briefingand evidence the relevant legal authorities, and the record as a
whole, the CourtGRANTSIN-PART and DENIESIN-PART Defendant Motion for

Sunmary Judgment, ECF No. 32. The Court grants summary judgment to Defendant on

1 The Courts consideration has focused on the following briefing and the evidence contained in
attachments thereto:

e Def’s Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 32Def.’s Mot.);
e PIl’s Oppn to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 33dppn Mem.”); and
e Def’s Reply to Pl.5 Oppn to Def.’s Mot. for Summ. J., ECF No. 32Reply Mem?).

2 The Court has considered the briefing and the record as a whole and determined in s& exerci
of its discretion that ndiearingis necessary to resolve Defendant’s Motion for Summary
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Plaintiff's retaliation claimsinder the District of Columbia Whistleblower Protection,AziC.
Code 88 1-615.5ét seq(2017) federal False Claims Ac31 U.S.C. 88 3728t seq(2016), and
District of Columbia False Claims AdD.C. Code 88 2381.01let seq (2017). The jury must
decidePlaintiff's claimsof age discrimination under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
of 1967, as amended9 U.S.C. 88 62&t seq(2016),andof racial discrimination undélitle VII

of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §8 2608eq (2016).

The Court also shall address a motion buried wiBHaintiff's Oppositionpapers With
Defendanits consent, the CouRANTS Plaintiff's Motion to Seal Certain Exhibits Which
Accompany Defendatd Motion and Plaintifs Opposition Thereto, ECF No.-53 Defendans
Exhibits 1, 3, 4, 5, and 9 attached to Defendahtotion for Summary JudgmerECF No. 32,
shall be placed undeseal pursuant to the partieBrotective OrderECF No. 28 Plaintiff s
Exhibits B, D, K, L, M, N, O, T, and aa, which accompany his Opposition to Defeaddation
for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 3dso shall be placed underasgursuant to the parte
Protective Order. The parties are reminded that documents subject taids: Paatective Order
must be filed in accordance with Local Civil Rule 5.1(h) and Paragraph 17 etrttattive Order

in order to receive the benefit of sealing during the pendency of any motiormn. to sea

Judgment.SeeD.D.C. LCvR7(f). If Plaintiff has determined that “Defendant’s Reply does not
technically raise ‘new issues,dnd therefore does not warrant a-seply, then the Court finds
that a hearing to address the alleged “additional factual assertions” of Defermlddtbe
unproductive.SeePl.’s Req. for Oral Hr'g, ECF No. 35ge alsdresp. to Pl.’s Req. for Oral Hr'g,
ECF No. 36 (opposing oral hearing and indicating that Defendant’s Reply identifieohpaufi
the record responsive to Plaintiff’'s assertions of material fact in his OppdsiAccordingly, the
Court DENIES Plaintiff's Request for an Oral Hearing, ECF No. 3l the instances where
Defendant’'s Response to Plaintiff's Statement of Additional Material Fdua$ Are Not in
Dispute, ECF No. 34, at 1417, adds some additional factual information, the Court shall not
consider that information to be undisputed material fact, because Plaintifichalsad an
opportunity to respond to it.



I.BACKGROUND

A. Factual Background

The Courtidentified many of the facts of this matter when it decided Dafer’'s motion
to dismissPlaintiff's claims under the federal False Claims Act and District of Columbia False
Claims Act SeeMem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 18 69. The Courtpresentlyshall set forth
certain material factthat are supported by uncontroverted evidenmg in the record® Further
facts, many of which are disputed, shall be addressed as necessary in perttierg pbthis
Memorandum Opinion.

Plaintiff served as an auditor in the District of Colund@ffice of the Inspector General

(“OIG"). Pl's Ex. K, ECF No. 336, at 1 On September 27, 201@IG offered Plaintiffa

3 The Court notes that it strictly adheres to the text of Local Rwe 7(h)(1) when resolving
motions for summary judgment. Accordingly, it shall, as the Court advisedrtiesghat it may,
“assume that facts identified by the moving party in its statement of materiahfacisimitted,
unless such facts are comterted in the statement filed in opposition to the motion.” Am.
Scheduling and Procedures Order, ECF No. 31, at 3. In setting forth the rélasieground for
Defendant’'s Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court therefore cites only to Defenda
Statenent of Undisputed Facts in Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF Ko. 32
(“Def.’s Initial Stmt.”), unless Plaintiff has objected to the relevant aspeict®efendant’s
statement, in which case the Court shall also cite to Plaintiff’'s RespobDsésiodant’s Statement
of Undisputed Facts in Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF Nb.(3.’s
Stmt.”). In addition, the Court notes that Plaintiff's response statement isgdaderal additional
facts that he asserts are not in dispuseePl.’s Stmt. {§ 2212. Defendant’s Reply includes a
response to Plaintiff's statement that addresses those further facts. Shartraf Material Facts,
ECF No. 341 (“Def.’s Reply Stmt.”), 11 242. Where there is no dispute, the Court shall bie t
additional facts as contained in Plaintiff's opposition statement. Where thardispute as to
some aspects of Plaintiff's statement, but not to points the Court now sets fonidisgsuted, the
Court may cite Defendant’s reply statement for theigance of doubt that Defendant’s reply
statement has been considered. Where appropriate, the Court also cites diesalgrice in the
record. As discussed above ifootnote 2 the Court shall not consider the additional factual
information in Defendant’s reply statement to be undisputed material fact.

4 The partiesexhibits often include deficient page numbering, e.g., missing or partially odscure
Bates numbers. The Cdwhall cite to a truncated form of the Bates number, where it is present
in full, or, where Bates is not an option, as here, to the original page numbering of the ngderlyi
document or to the ECF page numbering of the document. References to depsisidmes to
page and line numbers of the deposition transcripts.
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promotion to Director of Medicaid Auditsan a-will position within OIGs Management
Supervisory Service, and Plaintiff accepted the following d2gf.’s Initial Stmt.qf 1-2. While
Director of Medicaid Adits, Plaintiff's job description includednter alia, “scheduling and
completing performance audits, estimating workloads and capability &f.stafand] making
adjustments in staff and workload to meet firm deadlines for special projédi§3; Def.s Ex.
2, ECF No. 324, at 064 He served in that position until August 15, 20BkeDef.’s Ex. 9, ECF
No. 32-4, at 013.

Plaintiff was assignedhe “Medicaid State PlProgram Integrity audit n September
2012. Def.'s Initial Stmt. 23, Among other audit reports for which Plaintiff was responsible
during his employment was th&lursing Home Performance and Administrative Salarseslit.
Pl’s Stmt. § 39; Pls Ex. G, ECF No. 332, at 1(citing various audits for which Plaintiff was
diredor).

On September 15, 2013, Defendant provided Plaintiff with an annual performance
evaluation for the period October 2, 2012, through September 302 2D&8'’s Initial Stmt. | 4;
Def’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32. Notwithstanding theparties competing interpretations of this
evaluation,t is clear that some language is complimentary of Pldistgerformance and other
language is critical of his performanc8ee generallpef.’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32. In addition to
ratings in specific areas, the review gave Plaintiff‘@verall Summary rating of“3 Valued
Performer; specifically 3.1%ut of 5.00 Id. at 049 Def.s Initial Stmt. { 9.Thereview also noted
that“[ d]uring this rating period at the Midear period [Plaintiff] was operating a satisfactory

manner. Def’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32, at 049.The record contains a second version of this report

°> Neither party comments on the fact that this performance evaluation purpoctagkt a period
that was not yet completed.



showing Plaintiffs signatureand a handwritten indication that it wda§rleviewed and
[a]Jcknowledged’on December 30, 2013. Def.Ex. 4 ECF No. 324, at 04] see alsdDef.'s
Initial Stmt. 9 10 (making uncontested point that he read and signed evaluation).

In an April 2013 debrief regardirtge Medicaid State Plan/Program Integraydit upper-
level management and Plaintiff discus#eelfact that Medicaidayments$ad not been suspended
to certain healthcare providers who were under investigation for fraudulentyadayildefendaris
Medicaid Fraud Control Un{t MFCU”). Pl.s Stmt.  29Management disagreed with Plairsff
assetion that this fact should be included in his audit reptit, Def.'s Reply Stmt. § 29.

In October 2013,an employee of Defendast Department of Healthcare Finance
(“DHCF’) emailed Plaintiff a list ofproviders whom DHCF had referred to MFCU for
investigation but to whom payments were not suspefd@af.’s Initial Stmt.  24.Also in
October 2013, Plaintiff discussed with Ron King, Assistant Inspector GefweraAudits
(“AIGA™), Plaintiff s belief thatMedicaid payments tdhealthcargprovidersunder investigation
by MFCU should have been suspended. sPatmt. § 3pDef.’s Reply Stmt. § 30Plaintiff also
discussed thpaymentnonsuspension issue during meetings on October 21 & 22, 2013, and on
December 2, 2013vith Susan Kennedy, Assistanspector General faheMFCU. Pl’s Stmt. |
32; Dep. of Paul Hicks at 84:92, Pl's Ex. E, ECF No. 330. At least one of those meetings
includedMr. King, who voiced his concern with the inclusion of f@meninonssuspension issue

in theMedicad State Plan/Program Integrigydit report.Pl.’s Stmt. § 32.

® The Court shall refeto this as thépayment nonsuspensionssué rather than use Plaintif
term, the' suspended payments findihgo which Defendant objectSeePl.’s Stmt. 29; Def!s
Reply Stmt.f 29. The Court avoids the implication of taking a positioa,terminology alone,
on the legality of the suspension and on whether Plaintiff was the first to bisrijriding” to
his superiorsattention.



The record containsecember 13, 2013, letter froBharles Willoughbythe District of
Columbia Inspector Gener@llG”), to Wayne Turnageghe Director of the DHCF'to inform [the
latter] of a serious concern that Susan Kennedy, Director of the Mediaid Bontrol Unit
(MFCU), has brought to my attention about suspension of Medicaid providers after theydrave be
referred to the MFCU for investigati6nDef.'s Ex. 13, ECF No. 34, at 0482 Mr. Willoughby
reported Ms. Kennedy finding“from DHCF personnel that no providers referred by DHCF to
the MFCU in FY 2013 have had payments suspehdédl. at 0483. The letter also discusses
federal Medicaid regulationsegarding payment suspension and DHCEfforts pursuant to a
“good causeexception thereinld. Non-suspension was particularly concerning, the 1G wrote,
because of a January 201GMS Comprehensive Program Integrity Review Draft Répibrat
documentd theDistrict of Columbias failure “to suspend $59 million in payments for providers
referred to the Medicaid Fraud Control UiMFCU”) for investigatior. Id. at 3 (internal
quotation marks omitted).

During the first quarter of 2@, Plaintiff againdiscussed thpayment norsuspension issue
with OIG officials, first on March 11, 2014, duritige“ AIGA’s Weekly DirectorsMeeting” and
then on April 10, 2014n a meeting that included Mr. King and LaDonia Wilkins, Deputy AIGA.

Id. 7 3334; see alsd?l’s Ex. U, ECF No. 326, at 1 (referring to Ms. Wilkins dDAIGA”).

" Only this last page of the letter lacks a Bates label.

8 Oddly, when Defendaig Reply Statement quotes PlainsffStatement of Fact, it switches
Plaintiff’ s two references to April 2014 to read April 2013. BeReply Stmtf 34. But Plaintiff
expresslystates in his underlying affidavit that this is A@@014. PI.s Aff., ECF No. 334, | 22.
Plaintiff’ s deposition also suggests April 208eeDep. of Paul Hicks at 73:172, 74:113, Pl's

Ex. E, ECF No. 330. Defendant does not object to or comment specifically on the date.
Accordingly, the Court refers here to April 2014 as the last of the meatinggidence that
discussed thpaymentnon-suspensioissue, but in any event, the specific date of this meeting is
not material to the Coustdecision.



Discussion at these meetings also inclutiedVedicaid State Plan/Program Integrity audit report.
Pl’s StmtJ 1 3334. Mr. King directed Plaintiff to remove thEayment norsuspension issue from
the draft Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity audit reports Btmt.|| 34; Def.s ReplyStmt.

1 34 Plaintiff argued during at least one meeting with Mr. King that the Governmen
Accountability Officés (“GAQ”) Government Aditing Standards and 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 dictated
that thepayment norsuspension issughouldbe included in the Medicaid State Plan/Program
Integrity audit report.Pl.’s Stmt.{ 35; Def.s Reply StmtJ 35. Mr. King disagreed that the cited
C.F.R. provsion was applicable. P$.Stmt.f 35; Def.s Reply Stmt{ 35.

On May 16, 2014Mr. King issued a memorandum that revoked Plaistdlternative work
schedulg“AWS”), effective May 19, 2014Def.’s Initial Stmt.q 11; Def.s Ex. 5, ECF No. 32,
at020° The memorandum stated tH&aul Hicks has been rated in his mid t¢sio] performance
review as unsatisfactory based on 5 audit reports that have been long term i pnocese
required to be issued by September 30, 20Dkf.’'s Ex. 5, ECF No. 32-4, at 020.

Onapproximately Jun8, 204, a draftMedicdad State Plan/Program Integriydit report
was submittedo Ms. Wilkins Pl’s Stmt. § 37 A draft Nursing Home Performance and
Administrative Salaries audit report also wasmsiited by July 22, 2014ld. §40.1°

During a ‘Special Called Meeting ¢OIG’s] Audit Division Management Teafmon July
23, 2014 Ms. Wilkins indicated that she convened directors in ordédtscuss the serious state

of current audit deliverables, how we get through the current situation, and how we movd forwar

° The Court cannot recall a reference in the ré¢o what Plaintiffs AWS privileges specifically
entailed.

10 The Court assumes thab“Roy for IRR,7/22/14”is the basis for Plainti§ assertion that July
22, 2014, is the datey which this draft report was submitte8eePl.’s Ex. G, ECF No. 33-12,
at 1. This comment is not clearly consistent with the listingdr&ft” report submission dates in
other parts of the relevant chart, but because Defendant does not dispute, the Cautegbtall
this asfact forpurposes ofuling on the present motion.
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from this point: Def.’s Initial Stmt. § 12; Defs Ex. 6, ECF No. 32, at 0250. According to a
summary of that meeting, Ms. Wilkins

noted that communications prior to now had not been aphn and honest, that

the review work by directors has not been enough to prevent the current situation,

and that the quality of the reports is not what it should have been, given the amount
of time and money spent to perform these audits.

Def’s Ex. 6, ECF No. 32, at 0250. Immediately following this point, under the he&lerrent
Situation] the summary continues by stating tl{dajwo audits, Nursing Home Performance and
Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity, are so problematic that Mr. Kingsleang not issuing
them; but that Ms. Wilkins'stated that she believes that wewd rekase them in some manrier.
Id. While Ms. Wilkins“stated that we all are at fault, in some way, in terms of the work that we
have been performint; Director Paul Hicks took responsibility for the condition of the reports in
guestion and the actions that led us to this pointl. Two other OIG directors would each
“carefully review one of those two reports afidter today provide their recommendations to Ms.
Wilkins and Mr. King. Mr. King will decide whether or not to issue the regortd. at 0250
0251. Thaemainder of theneding summaryincluding theé'Moving Forward section,does not
specifically name any other directors or reports but instead refers generaligttairectors”or
“we” need to do.See d. at 0251 ¢tating,e.g., ‘we cant continue to take more than a ye¢a
complete audits.

The following day, a memorandum from Kenneth Bates, a senior auditor; thauit
Plaintiff to Mr. King and Ms. Wilkinson July 24, 2014indicated a decision to cancel the Nursing
Home Performance and Administrative Salaries aegibrt. That memorandum stated in entirety:

After careful consideration and review of the documentations gathered during the

audit fieldwork of project No: X1-20HT — Nursing Home Performance and

Administrative Salaries, and additional consideratioadvhinistrative matters, we

have decided to terminate this project. As a result, an audit report will notibd iss
on this project.



Pl’s Stmt.f42; Pl's Ex. J, ECF No. 33-15.

The Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity audit report also was chceh an
unspecified datePl.s Stmt. § 38 (stating only thds]Jometime in June or July of 2014, Defendant
cancelled the Medicaid State Plan Atl)disee alsd?l.’s Ex. |, ECF No. 334 (“Open Audit Status
Report Updatefrom “AlGA’s Weekly DirectorsMeeting” on July 29, 2014isting audits without
referencingthe Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity or Nursing Home Performance and
Administrative Salaries audit reports).

Finally, inaJuly 31, 2014letterfrom Blanche Brucelnterim InspectoGenera) Defendant
terminated Plaintifs employment, without explanation, effective August 15, 2@f.’s Initial
Stmt. § 22Def.’s Ex. 9, ECF No. 32, at 013. That letter also indicated that Plaintiff would be
placed on administrative leave until the effeetdate of his termination and that he should
“immediately return property issued to him as a government emplayke.

B. Procedural History

Plaintiff brought this suit on October 27, 2015. Compl., ECF No.The Amended
Complaint filed on December 22015,presents a claim of racial discrimination under Title VII
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; a claim of age discrimination unelekgeh
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amen@&DEA”"); a claim of retaliation under
the federbFalse Claims Ac{*FCA"); a claim of retaliation under the District obldmbia False
Claims Act(“DCFCA”); and a claim of retaliation under D.C. Codé&-815.51et seq, which
codifiesthe District of Columbiss Whistleblower Protection A¢t DCWPA"). Pl.'s First Am.
Compl., ECF No. 1@¢°Am. Compl?),

Plaintiff claims in his Amended Complaint that he had exhausted his administrative

remedies under Title VII and the ADEA by filing with the U.S. Equal Emplent Opportunity



Commission(“EEOC’) and the D.C. Office of Human Rights on May 4, 2015, and receiving a
Notice of Right to Sue from the EEOC on August 3, 2088eAm. Compl. 1 9. Defendant does
not contest this assertion.

On April 28, 2016, the Court denied Defendanlotion to Dismiss Counts 3 & of the
Amended Complaint, finding that Defendant had not shownRlaatiff failed to statd=CA and
DCFCA claimsas to which relief could be granteBeeMem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 19, at 13.

Upon the conclusiorof discovery, the Court set a briefing schedule Dafendanits
currently pending motion.

1. LEGAL STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate whétee movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattér eldvR.

Civ. P. 56(a). The mere existencesomefactual dispute is insufficient on its own to bar summary
judgment; the dispute must pertain tOraaterial fact. 1d. Accordingly,“[ o]nly disputes over
facts thatmight affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly pret¢iade t
entry of summary judgmefit. Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Ina477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). Nor
may summary judgment be avoided based on just any disagreement as levtre facts; the
dispute must bégenuine] meaning that there must be sufficient admissible evidence for a
reasonable trier of fact to find for the non-movalat.

In order to establish that a fact is or cannot be genuinely disputed, a pairtja)nis to
specific parts of the recordincluding deposition testimony, documentary evidence, affidavits or
declarations, or other competent evideroe support of its position, or (b) demonstrate that the
materials relied upon by the opposing party do natadigt establish the absence or presence of a

genuine dispute. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1). Conclusory assertions offered withoaittaiay hasis
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in the record cannot create a genuine dispute sufficient to survive summary padgee Ass

of Flight Attendants€WA, AFL-CIO v. Dept of Transp, 564 F.3d 462, 4666 (D.C. Cir. 2009).
Moreover, wheréa party fails to properly support an assertion of fact or faifgoperly address
another partys assertion of factthe district court mayconsider the fact undisputed for purposes
of the motion. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

When faced with anotion for summaryjudgment the district court may not make
credibility determinations or weigh the evidence; instead, the evidencebmuastalyzed in the
light most fivorable to the nemovant, with all justifiable inferences drawniia favor. Liberty
Lobby 477 U.S. at 255! If material facts are at issue, or, though undisputed, are susceptible to
divergent inferences, summary judgment is not availab®ore v.Hartman 571 F.3d 62, 66
(D.C. Cir. 2009) (quotindkuo-Yun Tao v. Fregh27 F.3d 635, 638 (D.C. Cir. 1994)nternal
guotation marks omitted). In the end, the district ¢euask is to determirfevhether the evidence
presents a sufficient disagreement to require submission to a jury or whettser onesided that
one party must prevail as a matter of lawiberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 251-52. In this regard, the
non-movant must'do more than simply show that there is some metaphydatdit as to the
material facts. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., Ltd. v. Zenith Radio CGa¥p5 U.S. 574, 586 (1986).
“If the evidence is merely colorable,ismot significantly probative, summary judgment may be
granted.” Liberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 24%0 (citations omitted).

In recognition of the difficulty in uncovering clear evidence of discriminataent, the
district court should appach summary judgment in an action for employment discriminatitm
“special cautiori. Aka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctrl16 F.3d 876, 8780 (D.C. Cir. 1997)internal
guotation marks omitteddeh’g en banc grantedypinion \acated 124 F.3d 1302 (D.C. Cir. 1997)

(en banc)see also Woodruff v. Peted82 F.3d 521, 52¢.C. Cir. 2007)citing Aka 116 F.3d at
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879-80). The samestandardarguably applies to retaliatiotlaims. See Walker v. District of
Columbig 279 F. Supp. 3d 246, 258 (D.D.C. 2017) (KeHKartelly, J.) (taking “special cautioh
in DCWPA case) Be that as it may,a plaintiff is not relieved of her obligatioto supporther
allegationsby affidavits or othecompetent evidence.Brown v. Mills 674 F. Supp. 2d 182, 188
(D.D.C. 2009)(quoting Calhoun v. JohnsgnNo. CIV. A. 952397 (PLF), 1998 WL 164780
(D.D.C. Mar. 31, 1998)jinternal quotation marks omittedis in any context, where the plaintiff
would bear the burden of proof on a dispositive issue at trial, at the summary jucgagehe
bears the burden of production to designate specific facts showindhénatexists a genuine
dispute requiring trial. Ricci v. DeStefanadb57 U.S. 557, 5862009) (citing Celotex Corp. v.
Catrett, 477 U.S. 317 (1986)) Otherwise, the plaintiff could effectively defeat theentral
purposé of the summary judgment devieananely, “to weed out those cases insufficiently
meritorious to warrant . . . trial-simply by way of offering conclusory allegations, speculation,
and argumentGreene v. Dalton164 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).
[11. DISCUSSION

A. ClaimsUnder TitleVII and the Age Discrimination in Employment Act

The Court shall consider PlaintsfTitle VIl and ADEA claims together, because they share
a common analytical framework and, in this case, overlapping sets of $se€tokie v. Duncan
202 F. Supp. 3d 1394849 (D.D.C. 2016) (citin@@aloch v. Kempthorné&50 F.3d 1191, 1197
n.2, 1200 (D.C. Cir. 2008ppplying commorframework)),aff'd sub nomEtokie v.DeVos No.
165243, 2017 WL 3725634 (D.C. Cir. May 31, 201%ge also Baloch550 F.3d at 1196
(specifically identifying common elements of Title VII and ADEA claim€’'Connor v.
Consolidated Coin Caterers Corfal7 U.S. 308, 311 (1996) (assumin@bsence of any dispute

thatTitle VII frameworkarticulated inMcDonnell Douglasppliesto ADEA claim).
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1. Analytical Framework for Racial and Age DiscriminatiGlaims

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act makes it unlawful for any employ#o fail or refuse to
hire or to discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against@midual withrespect
to his compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such ihdividua
race, color, religion, sex, or national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 2620®(1) (2016). Similarly, the
ADEA does not permit any employer “to fail or re&tohire or to discharge any individual or
otherwise discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensatis, tonditions,
or privileges of employment, because of such individuadie’ 29 U.S.C. $23(a)(1)(2016).

Where there is no direct evidence of discrimination, Title &itl ADEA claims are
assessed pursuant to the burdbifting frameworkoriginally set forth by the Supreme Cotot
Title VII claimsin McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greeall U.S. 792, 8023 (1973). The paintiff
has the initial burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidepcena facie case of
discrimination. To allege grima faciecase of discriminatin, a plaintiff must show thie “is a
memler of a protected class,” that he “suffered an adverse employment action,” afitheéhat
unfavorable action gives rise to an inference of discriminatiéaussef v. F.B,1687 F.3d 397,
401 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (quotin§tella v. Mineta284 F.3d 135, 145 (D.C. Cir. 2002)).

Once the plaintifhras made @rima faciecase, “the burden shifts to the defendant ‘to
articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the [employment attainis
challenged].” Wiley v. Glassman511 F.3d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (quotiMgDonnell
Douglas 411 U.S. at 802). Once an employer has profferedraliscriminatory reason, the
McDonnell Douglasburdenshifting framework disappears, and the court is left to determine

whether the plaintiff has put forth enough evidence to defeat the defendants praffsupport a
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finding of discriminationBrady v. Office of the Sergeant at Afr620 F.3d 49049394 (D.C.
Cir. 2008);Woodruff 482 F.3d at 530.

At the summary judgment stage, courts may consider pléayifina faciecas, evidence
presented by the plaintiff to rebut the emplog@xplanations for actions taken, and any additional
evidence of discrimination that the plaintiff might proff&ee Hampton v. Vilsac&85 F.3d 1096,
1100 (D.C. Cir. 2012)Hamilton v. Geither, 666 F.3d 1344, 1351 (D.C. Cir. 2012) (noting that,
to avoid summary judgment, a plaintiff need not submit evidemeer and abovethat necessary
to rebut the employ&s stated reasoftiting Aka v. Wash. Hosp. Ctrl56 F.3d 1284 (D.C. Cir.
1998) (erbanc) (internal quotation marks omitted)\ plaintiff’s disagreement with or disbelief
in anemployets explanation cannot alofisatisfy the burden of showing that a reasonable jury
could find that the employes asserted reason was not the actuaoreand that the employer
intentionally discriminated against the plaintiff on a prohibited BasBurton v. District of
Columbig 153 F. Supp. 3d 13, 58 (D.D.C. 2015). Rather, the plaintiff must put forward enough
evidence thata reasonable jury not only could disbelieve the empleyeasons, but also could
conclude that the employer acted, at least in part, for a prohibited reddofguotingWalker v.
Johnson 798 F.3d 1085, 1092 (D.C. Cir. 2015)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

2. Plaintiff Adequately Rebuts DefendamArticulated Rationaléor Adverse
Employment Actions

“The record contains no direct evidence of discriminatior example, a statement that
itself shows [age or] racial . . . bias in the decisiihat would generally entitle glaintiff to a
jury trial.” Vatel v. Alliance of At Mfrs,, 627 F.3d 1245, 1247 (D.C. Cir. 201Blaintiff raises
only one instance of a direct reference to his age, and no such instancegrefdris race. Dep.
of Paul Hicks at 663, Pl's Ex.E, ECF No. 3310. In his depositiorRlaintiff commentedhat

Mr. King, Plaintiff s intermediate supervisor the OIG,“made comments to my receiving social
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security and having bags of money because of my double retirement on more tharasio&Gcc
Id. at62:6-8. Neither Plaintiff nor Defendant provides any further context to these catnwess

Without more, he“bags of moneycomments are not enough to qualify as direct evidence
of age discrimination. “Direct evidence does not include stray remarks in the workplace,
particularly those made by nalecision makers or statements made by decision makers unrelated
to the decisional process itsélfSteele v. Carterl92 F. Supp. 3d 151, 165 (D.D.C. 20{&)oting
Waterhouse v. District of Colun#)il24 F.Supp.2d 1, 12 (D.D.C2000),aff'd 298 F.3d 989 (D.C.
Cir. 2002)),aff'd in part appeal denied in part sub nom. Steele v. Mats 165236, 2017 WL
2332608 (D.C. Cir. Feb. 21, 201%ee alsdReply Mem. at 16 (same)Whether or not Mr. King
could be considered a decision makaintiff does not claim thahe“bags of mon€ycomments
specifically pertained to Defendastdecision to revoke his AWS privileges or terminate his
employment Yet, the Court certainly considers such comments in deciding whether tlzere is
genuine dispute as to the material facts supporting Plantiffe discrimination claift. See
Steele 192 F. Supp. 3d at 165 (citiddorris v. McCarthy 825 F.3d 658, 670 (D.C. Cir. 2016)
(urging consideration ofiSolated rae-based remarktogether with other evidence)).

Becausdhere isno direct evidence in support of Plaintffage and race discrimination
claims, the Court shall turn to circumstantial evidence. That inquiry intieeburdershifting
analysis undeMcDonnell Douglas Plaintiff is an African Americarwho was 66yearsold at the

time of his terminationPl.s Aff., ECF No. 334, {11 1-2Pl.s Ex. K ECF N0.33-16, at 1 There

1 The parties do not press Plairisficlaim, in his deposition, that Mr. Kirigelied on Caucasian
directors more than AfricaAmerican[] ones,insofar as he would say that he would dotdiieck
information from Plaintiff ith another (white) source. Dep. of Paul Hicks at 522353:112,

Pl’s Ex. E, ECF No. 330. This is one of those pieces of evidence that is not direct, but further
supports the Coud ultimate finding of factual issues for the jury on Plairgiffacial
discrimination claim.
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is no dispute that he falls within protected classes under Title VIl andxBAASee, e.gMurray

v. Gilmore 406 F.3d 708, 713 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (recognizing African American as member of Title
VIl protected class); 29 U.S.C. § 631(a)p16)(establishing 40 years of agethseshold for ADEA
protections).

Plaintiff experiencedwo instances of whatould be considereddverse employment
actions, namely the revocation of his AWS privileges on May 16, 2014, and his termination on
July 31, 2014, effective August 15, 2013ef.’s Initial Stmt.f11, 22;PI.’s Stmt.711, 22;Def.’s
Ex. 9, ECF No. 32, at 013.In this Circuit,“adverse employment actibrs defined forpurposes
of Title VIl as*“a significant change in employment status, such as hinimg, failing to promote,
reassignment with significantly different responsibilitiesa @iecision causing significant change
in benefits’ Douglas v. Donovarb59 F.3d 549, 552 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (emphasis ad@pdting
Taylor v. Smd| 350 F.3d 1286, 1293 (D.C. C2003))(internal quotation marks omitted)n the
absence of dispute, the Court shall assuanguendo that the revocation of Plaintif AWS
privileges is a significant change in employment status, akin to a decisiongcausignificant
change in berfis.

The only disputed element of Plaint#prima faciecase isany causal connection between
Defendant adverse employment actioaadPlaintiff's status as a member of protected classes
under Title VII and/othe ADEA. At this summary judgment stagiae Court” need not-and
should not—decide whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie case Muizwnnell
Douglas’ where (1)‘an employee has suffered an adverse employment adciod,(2)‘an
employer has asserted a legitimate,-d@ctriminatory reason for the decisigh.Burton 153 F.

Supp. 3d at 57 (quotinBrady, 520 F.3d at 494).Accordingly, bearing in mind the adverse
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employment actions described above, the Court shall turn directly to Defenaléeded rationale
for thoseactions.

The parties gto some lengths in detailingeir disagreement over Plaintgfperformance.
The Court shall focus here on the highlighBefendant justifies its adversmployment actions
by pointing to evidence tending to suggtstt Plaintiffs audit reports were not produced in a
timely fashion see, e.g.Def’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32, at 046 gerformance review stating
“[ Plaintiff’s] written products have taken an extremely long period of time for the repdrs t
finalized?); 2 he fdled to supervise an employee to the point that shaaticingfor two years
Dep. of Ronald W. King at 130:4%1, 131:121, Pl's Ex. F, ECF No. 331 (“[l]t was implied to
me that she was working and, later on, it was found out that she was not doing afoyttwrg
years.”) and he failed toeview his draft reports ileam Mate, an internal system for managing
draftsof audit reportsseeDep. of Paul Hicks a89:17-22, 40:1-20Def.s Ex. 7, ECF No. 32
(“[W]ith the exception of Medicaid state plan, | imved my audits in Team Aid [si¢].1?
Plaintiff challenges each point, identifying evidetizat the other audit directors also were delayed
in producing their reports and that different types of audits take diffareatints of timgsee,
e.g, Dep. ofRoy Simmons a#6:2-21 Pl's Ex. R, ECF No. 323 (describing differing lengths
of time by size and complexity of audit, and an average period that at one point wasagielgxi
15 months and at another was approximately 30 mgrfhy) Ex. aa, ECF Nd33-32, at 04119

(perfomance review of another supervisory auditor indicatirag “she is not timely with her

12 plaintiff denies this assertion in the annual performance review, but he adnetseiding,
reviewing, and signing the annual performance review containing this assdplis Stmt. {1 4,
10.

13 Although Defendant makesbéanket assertion as to Plaingfiionuse of Team Mate, the only
evidence Defendant cit@s its Statement of Undisputed Fatdshis assertion byPlaintiff that he
did use Team Mate for all except one rep@eeDef.’s Initial Stmt.q 21.

17



products and could better manage her people, projects, arijl; treedid supervise the relevant
employee, who did in fact work during that tirperiod at issue, Dep. of Paul Hicks at 3823
37:1, Def.s Ex. 7, ECF No. 32 (describing the employeerole doing research and data minjng
Dep. of Roy Simmons #i6:8-16 Pl.s Ex. R, ECF No. 323 (confirming Plaintiffs supervision
of the relevahemployee)and although hadmittedlydid not use Team Mate for one of his audit
reports,the Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity audityas notloadedin Team Matehe
reviewedthat reportin paper formanyway and other audit directolegedlywere not fully
compliant in their Team Mate usaggher, see, e.g.Dep. of PauHicks at 40:1522, 41:112, PI's
Ex. E, ECF No. 330 (affirming review of this report in paper format); at 38:16-19, 39:12-14
(“Q. Ms. Loudin was accused of refusing iese Team Aid [sic] and poorly supervising
subordinates? A. That is what | know firsthajidDep. of Roy Simmons at 35:22, 36:1, Pls
Ex. R, ECF No. 323 (“It was a problem for all directors to, in a timely manner, review work
papers’in Team Mate.).The Court alseobserves evidence in the record that the employeewho
Defendant says did no work for two years remained employ@d&Gffor years after Plaintif§
termination SeeDep. of Roy Simmons at 6521, 66:17 (stating unequivocallyin 2017
deposition thaf[ s]he still currently works thete

Other evidenceas welltendsto show that Defendarst performancerationalefails to
account forcertain key facts In particular, the performance revieRiintiff did receive included
significant amounts of positive feedbadHis 20112012 annual performanceview shows that

he received an overall ratingthe* Competencigssectionof 4.40/5.00%* making him &4 Highly

14 plaintiff has not submitted the entirety of the 2011-2012 annual review. Even reviewing onl
the”Competenciessection, however, shows consistently higher ratings than in 2012-2013,
when his “Competencysection earned an overall rating of 3.30. Def.’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32-4, at
047.
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Effective Rerformer,”and in some specifiareas,'5 Role Model” SeePl.’s Ex. B, ECF No33-
7, at 039041 While Defendant points to constructive criticism in the 20023 review, that
reviewcontains primarily positive feedback, together with the overall finding that he isleoet$
a“3 Valued Performet. SeeDef.’s Ex. 3, ECF No. 32, at11-17. Notwithstanding any mixed
message that a rating of three on a five point scale may suggest, elsewkadabefiefines a
rating of “Valued Performér as showing that the individudtonsistenty meet[s] and may
occasionally exceed expectations, and therefore, meets the minimum reqtsrehtlee position.
Contributions are essential to ensuring that agency goals ate rh&t.Ex. A., ECF No. 33, at
14-1-3.

As for other woulebe indicatos of performancePlaintiff disputes that he ever received
an“unsatisfactory midterm reviewto which Mr. King referred in his May 16, 2014, memorandum
revoking Plaintiffs AWS privilegs. SeeDep. of PauHicks at 16:815, 18:912, PI's Ex. E, ECF
No. 33-1Q Def.'s Ex. 5, ECF No. 32, at 24.Plaintiff's 20122013 annual review that heoked
atnearly six months beforehand could not have been what Mr. King was referring to, bhatuse t
annual reportnoted that themid-term review for that periodexpressly found Plaintifé
performance to bésatisfactoryat that point.SeePl.’s Stmt.{{ 5, 11 Def.s Ex. 4 ECF No. 32-

4, at041. He alsotestifiesthat he was not placed on a performance improvement(‘{ffaR’).
Dep. of PauHicks at 13:2122, 14:1-6, Pl!s Ex. E, ECF No. 330. The parties dispute whether
D.C. regulations require thah employee in the Management Supervisory Service was entitled to

a PIP,seeOpp n Mem. at 18Reply Mem. at 16 n;2° the Courts reading of a District Persogin

15Mr. King says in his deposition that Plaintiffias put on a performance improvement plan, a
PIP plan, and some of those concerns were addressed in that PIP plan.” Dep. of Ronadd W. Ki
at48:11-19, Pl.’s Ex. F, ECF No. 33& Defendant appears not to find ttestimonycredible
enough to argue that Plaintiff was placed on a PIP.
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Manual submitted by Plaintiff suggests that his view is at least plaus@ael.’s Ex. A, ECF No.
6, 88 1410.1(f), 1410 Plaintiffs assembly of this evidence regarding performance feedback
appears to show iather rapidfall from grace that a reasable jury could find, together with
Plaintiff's direct rebuttal, is not fully explained by the type and timeline of perforrasges that
Defendant haglentified

Defendant argues that Plaintdfseltserving testimony is not enough to create augen
issue of fact. Reply Mem. at 7 (citivgard v. District of Columbig®50 F. Supp. 2d 9, 17 (D.D.C.
2013)). Butthe Court finds more than only Plaintgfword in most instances, and in any event,
Defendant sometimgsuts forth no more thathe neatequivalent oits own word, by deposition
of its past employee, Mr. King, and its own written documents.

As discussed above, it is not enough that Plaintiff attack Defésdatibnale. His effort
to show that rationale to lpgetext also musvarrant the consideration of a reasonable i8ge
Burton, 153 F. Supp. 3@t 58. Plaintiff makes his case for age and racial discrimination by
identifyingcomparators, namely other supervisoryismrdwhowere working contemporaneously
at OIG butwho differed in age and, in one instancace. Of the fourcomparators that Plaintiff
identifies, allareat least sixteen years younger, three of whom are African Americainicanfy®
and one of whom is whitf Oppn Mem. at9-10. Plaintiff also drawson the experience diis
predecessor as Director of Medicaid Audithoms white and approximately thirtegmars

younger than him.ld. at 15. Defendant disputes the extent to which these other supervisory

16 Neither party distinguishes between African American and Africapdoposes of identifying
comparators.

17 The fact that purported compaset also were members of either the Title VII or ADEA
protected classes does not prohibit Plaintiff from contrasting his chastcgewith theirs. See
O’Connor, 517 U.S. at 312 (finding that replacement ofygarold employee with 4§earold
employeelikewise within ADEA protected class did not invalidate fired employegtempt to
make oufprima faciecase).
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auditors are true comparatosge generallyReply Mem. at 917, arguing, for example, thateir
audit reportavere notasdelayed as Plainti and cannot easily be compared anyvicyat 9-12.
The difficulty comparing those audit reports, due in Deferidanbrds to thé many variables
affect[ing how long each report will take,id. at 10, is among the factual issues that are
appropriate for the fact finder, not for the Court at this summary judgsteaye.

Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the Plaintifere are genuine disputes as
to theassessmerf Plaintiff s performance viga-vis other supervisory auditors, and the extent to
which other supervisory auditors are sufficiently comparable for purposes ofmdgeaa@al
discrimination claims.This isa situation inwhich someof the material factge.g., audit report
timeliness)re in dispute, and other undisputed facts (e.g., failure to use Team Mate for ot)e repo
are susceptible to divengeyet justifiable inferencesSeeMoore, 571 F.3dat 66. The jury must
find the remaining facts and elect among the justifiaifErences

If the Court were not convinced by the disputes outlined above, it is Defemddance
regarding Roy Bhmons that raisesfartherdispute of material fact sufficierm tvarrantdenying
its motion for summary judgment on the age and racial discrimination ctiiis. Simmons, an
African American in his sixties, is the one supervisory auditor who alkavifilain both of
Plaintiff's protected classesSeeDep. of RonaldV. King at 14:1721, 15:13, Pl's Ex. F, ECF
No. 3311; Pl's Ex. L, ECF No. 337, at 4321. Approximately one year after Plairtiff
termination, Mr. Simmons too was terminated.’sPEx. L, ECF No. 337, at04321. OIGs
internal memoranda show that Dedants rationale wasimilarly the timeliness of an audit and

supervision of staff.See idat04309-@310. But this time the record also includes evidence that

18 Defendant mentions Mr. Simmons only as part of its quotation of a meeting sumgeey.
Summ. Chart of Material Facts, ECF No-B4at 8. Tat reference is not relevant for present
purposes.
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a supervisor of Mr. Simmons objected to the recommendation to terminate him, expressly
guestoning the basis for the decision made by more senior leadeldhgt04314-@315 (asking,
e.g., ‘Will we hold other audit directors, audit staff, and ourselves to the same standard of
accountability we are now holding Roy th? The record reflects #t Blanche Brucethe then
Deputy Inspector Genetalid not respond substantively to the objector, rather insisting that he
“simply’ indicate whether he agrees or disagre®se idat 04314 (identifying further response
as“disagre®). And Mr. Simmons himself did not know why he was let go, indicating ‘Orttad
15 minutes to leave. That was it. Fifteen minutes. No conversats@eDep. of Roy Simmons
at 68:1421, 69:118, Pl's Ex. R,ECF No. 3323. In light of the summary dismissal of Mr.
Simmons, another protected class member, on similar grounds to those off PAaidtgfiven that
Defendant does not respond to any of this evidence, the Court finds that the jury muoshdete
theinferences to be drawn for Plaintgfclaims.

B. Claim Under the District of Columbia Whistleblower Protection Act

Pursuant to D.C. Code 8§ 1-615.54(b) (20&#4)laintiff alleging retaliation in violation of
the DCWPA has the initial burden of establishily a preponderance of the evidence that a
protected activityvas a contributing factor in allegedly prohibited personnel action; only then
does the burden shift to the employer to demonstrate by clear and convindegcevihat the
alleged action wald have occurred for legitimate reasons even absent the protected a&esty.
also Crawford v. District of Columbj&91 A.2d 216, 2149 [D.C. 2006). “Prohibited personnel
actiors” include,inter alia, termination and retaliation in “any other manné,C. Code 81—
615.52 (2017)the latter ofwhich the Court shall assumarguendg encompasses the revocation

of AWS privileges in thixase.
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The Court shall evaluate Plaintgfargument that he engagegmtected activity and that

thisactivity wasa contributing factor in the revocation of his AWS privileges asddrmination.

1. Plaintiff Has Not Established That He Made Protected Digolss Regarding the
PaymenfNon-Suspension Issue

Plaintiff argues that his disclosurgsalify as protectedctivity under the DCWPA.The

DCWPA prohibits, in relevant part, a supervisor froftak[ing], or threatefing] to take a

prohibited personnel action or otherwisetaliafing] against an mployee because of the

employeés protected disclosure. D.C. Code §81-615.53 (2017).A “protected disclosuteis

statutorily defined as:

any disclosure of information, not specifically prohibited by statutéhout
restriction to time, place, form, motive, context, forum, or prior disclosure made t
any person by an employee or applicant, including a disclosure maderditiey
course of an employee dutiesby an employee to a supervisor or a public body
that the employee reasonably believes evidences:

(A) Gross mismanagement;
(B) Gross misuse or waste of public resources or funds;

(C) Abuse of authority in connection with the administration of a public program
or the execution of a public contract;

(D) A violation of a federal, state, or local law, rule, or regulation, or of a term of a
contract between the District government and a District governmentactantr
which is not of a merely technical or minimal nature; or

(E) A substantial and specific danger to the public health and safety.

d. § 1-615.52(a)(6).

The District of Columka Court of Appeals hasxplained that[a] ‘protected disclosute

under the DEWPA is one that th employeéreasonably believeégvidences one or more of the

circumstances dieeated in D.C.Code 81-615.52(6)(A)}E) (2001).” Wilburn v. District of

Columbig 957 A.2d 921, 925 (D.@008). The'employee must disclose such serious errors by

the agency that a conclusion the agency erred is not debatable among reasonable lgeople.
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(quotingWhite v. Deft of the Air Force 391 F.3d 1377, 1382 (Fedir. 2004))(internal quotation
marks omitted) To determine whether an individual reasonably believed that such errors
constituted gross misconduct or abuse or were illegal, a court must consider wisether
disinterested observer with knowledge of the essential facts known to and asadityainable by
the employee [could] reasonably conclude that the actions of the governmente\jitegality,
gross abuse, etc'].Zirkle v.District of Columbia 830 A.2d 1250, 12580 (D.C.2003) (quoting
Lachance v. Whitel74 F.3d 1378, 1381 (Fedir. 1999)) (internal quotation marks omitted)A
purely subjective perspective of an employee is not sufficientiesbared by other emplegs.

Id. (internal quotation marks omittedY.he key inquiry remains whether the plaintiff reasonably
believed the caduct disclosed was illegalr a gros abusgefor exampleand not whether the
conduct was in fact ultimately found be illegal or agross abuseSee id.

Record evidence relevant to the protected disclosure incairpesuccinctlysummarized
as follows. Beginning as early as April 2013 and continuing through afealsP014,Plaintiff
spoke with his superiors at Ol@ a nunberof occasions regarding thénding” that certain
payments tdealthcargroviders had not been suspend&eePl. s Stmt. Y 285; Def.’s Reply
Stmt. 11 285. On various of these occasions,dpecifically discused his further belief that the
finding should be included in his audit report, a point which his supeimgpsyticularMr. King,
resisted SeePl’s Stmt. 1 29, 31-35; Def.’s Reply Stmt. {1 29, 31-35.

The record casts doubt, however, on Plaistiffpparent presumption tlnet wasdisclosing
something that was previously unknawAs a result, it would not be appropriate to refethi®
payment norsuspension issugs a“‘finding,” and, critically,his activities may not qualify as
“disclosure.” “District of Columbiacase 4w suggests that a plaintdfstatements do not qualify

as'‘protected disclosuresinder the [DC]JWPA if the statements conveyed only information that
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was already known to the person to whom the information is reported Willidms v. Johnsan
701 F.Supp. 2d 1, 1%D.D.C. 2010)citing Wilburn, 957 A.2dat 92526)). At first blush, it is not
entirely clear in the briefing whether tHdisclosuré at issue is thainderlying “finding of
payment norsuspension, or instead the issue of whether“fiiading” must be included in the
audit report. The parties seem to suggest that it is the EtEQppn Mem. at 224; Reply
Mem. at 20, but the Court shall address each possibility in turn.

There is ateast one sign in the record that upfeel mangement may already have been
aware ofthe underlying payment non-suspensisauewhen Plaintiffdiscussedt with themin
April 2013. In thelG’s December 13, 2013, letter to the Director of DHE®F, Willoughby
observed that

DHCFs failure to suspend providers it has referred to the MFCU is of concern

especially because the CMS Comprehensive Program Integrity Review Draft

Report January 2013 found the Districts Medicaid programat significant risk

due to vulnerabilities in its program integrity i&ites,” including “inadequate

attention to fraud and abuse detection, including failing to suspend $59 million in

payments for providers referred to the Medicaid Fraud Control Unit (MFCU) for
investigation . . . ."

Def.’s Ex. 13, ECF No. 32, at3 (emphasis added)Neither party attempts to explain the origin
or importof thisJanuary 2013 repotd whichMr. Willoughbyrefers Forexample, it is not clear
whether OIG produced the January 2013 report, and regardless, whether up[e+evel
management was aware of this re@ortl its findings byhe time that Plaintiff wadiscussing his
“findings” with his superiordeginning in April 2013.The existence of such a report, however,
makes it more difficult for Plaintiff to discharge his burden that the paynmrguspension issue
was a'disclosure.”

As for the other possiblédisclosure] it is not clear thatPlaintiff's superiors were
previouslyunaware otheregulations that Plaintiff discussed with thewn of the implications of

those regulatins According to Rintiff, he brought two regulations to Mr. Kirggattention,
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namely theGAO’'s Government Auditing Standards and 42 C.F.R. § 455.23s 8imt. { 35.
Defendantadmits that Plaintiff told his supervisors that he believed that federal regulations and
accounting standards requitedisclosure in the audit reporDef.’s Reply Stmt. § 35Surely
OIG uppertevel managemerdlreadywas familiar with GAO standardsitended for auditors
Plaintiff says nothing to dispel that assumptidine specific portionsf the GAOstandardgited
by Plaintiff are too general to support any notioraagévelatiorto managemerhathe was‘duty-
bound to include the paymenton-sispension issu his report. SeeOppn Mem. at 234
(asserting that inclusion of the paymewn-suspension issue is part of thabjective analysis
called for by GAO standards); B.Ex. P, ECF No. 321, at 2 (GAO Government Auditing
Standards exept).®

The C.F.Rsectioncited by Plaintiffsets forth the substantive requirement that Medicaid
payments be suspended to providers under investigation, absent good cause:

The State Medicaid agency must suspend all Medicaid payments to a provider afte

the agency determines there is a credible allegation of fraud for which an

investigation is pending under the Medicaid program against an individual or entity

unless the agency has good cause to not suspend payments or to suspend payment
only in part.

42 C.F.R. 8 455.23(a)(1(r017) Butthissectionsays nothing about including any findings to the

contrary inan auditots report. Here too, Plaintiff has not carried his burden to show that the need

to include the paymemnibnsuspension issue in hisport was adisclosuré for DCWPA purposes.
Evenif Plaintiff did make ddisclosure”in one or both of the above respetiswould not

be able tocarry his burden tgrove eitheris “protected. Herethe objective reasonableness

19 This excerpt of the Government Auditing Standards also state$[ #jatitors should not
perform reviewevel work for reporting on internal control or compliance with provisions of laws
and regulatios” Pl.’s Ex. P, ECF No. 321, at 2. Plaintiffs efforts appear to cut against GAO
standards in this respect. But because this excerpt does not include all ofvdr® celatext, the
Court shall notely on this point.
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standard inWilburnandZirkle comes into play. In light of all the eviden&fendarits failure to
suspend payments to all Medicaid providers under investigation is, if an error at ah, exwor

SO serious as to baot debatable among reasonable pebplBee Wilburn957 A.2d at925.
Plaintiff' s disclosure of this point teuperiorsat OIG did not account for colorable good cause
basesfor Defendarits not suspending the payments, even though Plaintiff disputes those good
cause basesSeeDef’s Mot. at 26 (describingn FCA/DCFA context, the law enforcement
exceptionandthe administrative overturning abme suspensions as good cause bases fer non
suspensionPpp h Mem. a0-21 (disputing law enforcement exceptiobgf.’s Ex. 13, ECF No.
32-4, at 0483 (discussing rescission of some suspensitey Mem. at 189 (proffering other
good cause bases that Plaintiff arguably would have to address). Nor does Defeledasion

not to disclose thpaymentnon-suspension issue the Medicaid State Plan/Progrdntegrity
audit report rise to the level of such seriousness, where there is no standérdezjeaing such

a disclosure there. The record reflects that Defersl@iG handled the paymembn-suspension
issue with a letter frorthelG to DHCF that emlences interagency communication between DHCF
and MFCU about the paymenbnsuspension issue. Defendant could have discharged its
obligation to comply with 42 C.F.R. 8§ 455.23 througiternal means such as this without
discussing the issue in the report.

It is true that Plaintiff may not have been aware of all the good causeamtgifor non
suspension of the payments at issue. He also may not have been aware’sfléteeiGo DHCF.
Given the possible limits of Plaintiff knowledge at the timgerhaps'a disinterested observer
with knowledge of the essential facts known to and readily ascertaingBialnyiff] [could havé
reasonably concludid] that the actions of the government evid¢dfL@ llegality].” SeeZirkle,

830 A.2dat 125960 (quoting.achance 174 F.3cht 138]) (internal quotation marks omitted). For
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this reason, the Court hesitates to find that he did not satisfy the objectorableness standard
for believing that he disclosed unlawful activitfyhe Court accordingly sl proceed to the next
prong of the DCWPA analysis.

2. Plaintiff Has NotEstablished th€ausal InferencBetween Any Protected Disclosures
Regarding the PaymeNbn-Suspension Issue and Alleged Retaliation

If Plaintiff could establish that he made a disclosure, and that it was protected, he would
also need to prove that it was at least a contributing factor in the revocalisn™¥S privileges
and his termination. SeeD.C. Code § £615.54(b) The lapse of time between PlaintfApril
2013 discussion of the paymaerin-suspensiorssue andts place in his auditeport, on the one
hand, and the eventual revocation of his AWS privileges in May 2014 and termination in July 2014,
on the other hand, is simply too long to supp@aasal inferenceBut Circuit precedent instructs
the Court also tdconsider later protected activity in determining whether evidence of temporal
proximity satisfies the causation eleméntamilton 666 F.3cat 1357-58(applying this standard
in retaliation case under federal Civil Service Reform Abt)Hamilton, that interval was a little
less than three montbgetween théaterinstance oprotectedactivity and the adverse employment
action. Id. at 1358.More @mnservatively herghe interval i©only one otwo months between the
last record evidence of Plaintsf raising the paymemon-suspension issugnd audit report on
March 11, 2014and April 10, 2014and the revocation of his AWS privileges on May 2@14.
Pl's Stmt. 11 11, 33, 3Def’s Reply Stmt. 1 11, 33, 34.

The legal possibility of temporal proximity notwithstanding, the Cauriot precluded
from evaluatinghe temporal proximityn light of all the evidence.See Hamilton666 F.3d at
1358 (“|W]e have evaluated the specific facts of each case to determine whether inferring
causation is appropriatg. Taylor v. Solis571 F.3d 1313, 1322 (D.C. Cir. 2008ihding, in Title

VII suit, “an inference of retaliatory motive basepon the mere proximity in time between
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[plaintiff’s] filing her first suit and the [adverse employment action] two anéhalfienonths later
would be untenable on the record Hgreln light of Plaintiff s yeafrlong series of comments on
the paymenhonsuspension issue and its place in the audit, theskew occurrence one otwo
months ahead of the firalleged retaliatioare not sufficiently persuasite establish the inference
in the absence of direct evidence
-

The Court finds that Plaintiff has not carried his burden to prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that he engagedprotected activitywith respet to thepaymentnon-suspesion issue
and the Medicaid State Plan/Program Integrity ref@ort] that such activity was a cobtiting
factor in aprohibited personnel action.

3. Plaintiff Has Not Established That He Made Protected Disclosures Reg#tdrsing
Home Deficiencies Nor Can Any Causal Inference Be Drawn Therefrom

Plaintiff makesa similar retaliation argument about disclosures that he allegedly made in
his draft of theNursing HomePerformance and Administrative Salaries auegort, which he
refers to as théNursing Home Performance Autliteport The record evidence in suppof
Plaintiff's prima faciecase for this clainconsists substantially of the following three paragraphs
in his affidavit:

In my draft Nursing Home Performance Audit report, | discussed D.C.ngursi
facilities' poor-quality care and internal controlfazencies. | reasonably believed
that this information evidenced a violation of healthcare laws and regulations.

Prior to my submission of the draft Nursing Home Performance Audit report, Mr.
King attempted to suppress my findings: that (1) D.C. nursacgditfes lacked
internal control programs that would prevent and detect waste, fraud, and abuse;
and (2) D.C. nursing facilities provided paquality of care.

Contrary to Defendahd contention, the documentation gathered and fieldwork
performed duringite Nursing Home Performance Audit was adequate.
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Pl.’s Aff., ECF No. 334, 11 2527. The only one of these contentions that Plaintiff proposed as
an undisputed fact is that Heiscussed D.C. nursing facilitiepoor-quality care and internal
control deficiencie$ in his draft report. Pl's Stmt. § 41. Defendant disputed, arguing that
“Plaintiff' s postdeposition affidavit cannot create a genuine issue of fact. The draft reptrt it
is the best evidence of its conténDef.'s Reply Stmt. { 41see ato Reply Mem. at 21 (citing
Gen. Elec. Co. v. Jacksph95 F. Supp. 2d 8, 36 (D.D.C. 2009)Without some independent
verification . . . [the] declaration is sedérving and uncorroborated. Such declarations are of little
value at the summary judgmeragé, and certainly do not represent concrete evidence Gen.
Elec. Co, 595 F. Supp. 2d &6 (citation omitted).The draft report is not in evidence.

Even if Plaintiffs affidavit alonevereenough evidence, the Court finds that the alleged
deficiencies described in the Nursing Home PerformamceAdministrative Salariesudit draft
report are simply too vague to rais&iable issue of fact. That is the case whether the purported
error on the part of Defendant, for DCWPA purposssthe nursing homeégleficiencies
themselves-which does not appear to be allegear the failure to include the nursing home
deficiencies in his audit reporSeeOppn Mem. at 24. It is not clear, for example, how nursing
homes allegedly fell short in their quglaf care, and whichhealthcare laws and regulatitisat
deficiency allegedly would contravene. As for the slightly more spediéigation about internal
control programs, Plaintiff does not clarify what kind of program would be esdjbiy law and
which laws would be inMed At this point, after close of discovery, Plaintiff could only survive
summary judgment if he had more specific evidence to support his thin ialtesgat a protected
disclosure of alleged nursing home deficienci8ge, e.g.Ricci, 557 U.S. at 586 (specific facts

necessary)sreene 164 F.3d at 675 (conclusory allegations insuffigient
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Absent greater specificity, the Court is inclined to believe that Plaméaffegations here
are akin to hismisplacedallegationsregarding GAOs auditing standards and the payment
susgension portion of the C.F.R. In short, a standard (e.gGHA®@’s) or asubstantive ruleg(g.,
in the C.F.R.) may be established, bugpecificvenue foraddressing thessueat hang—e.g., in
his respective audit repertis not expresslgictated contrary to Plaintifs assertions.

Plaintiff again tries testablish causatidoy pointing to temporal proximityThe parties
agreethat Plaintiffs Nursing HomePerformanceand Administrative Salags draft reportwas
submittedsometime on or before July 22, 2014; OIG cancelled that report on July 24, 2014; and
he was terminated on July 31, 201@ef.s Initial Stmt. | 22; Pls Stmt. 40, 42. If the facts
were sufficient to establish a proteciidclosure, then the timing could suppan inferenceof
causation so as to survive summary judgment. But without a protected disclosureityaigime
IS not enough.

The Court finds that Plaintiff has failed to carry his burden to establsine faciecase
with respect to th&lursing Home Performance and Administrative Salaries audit report.

C. Claims Under the Federal False Claims Act and the District of Columbia False
ClaimsAct

Plaintiff's retaliation claimsunder the federal FCA and DCFQAust trace a different
statutory scheme but ultimately fagienilady to his DCWPA claim.

1. Analvytical Framework foFederalFCA and DCFCA Claims

In an effort to distinguish the FCA clairfrem each other anfdom the DCWPA claim, the
Court shall reiterate its treatment of the relevant statutory framework imied dé Defendaris
motion to dismiss the federal FCA and DCFCA clairBeeMem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 19, at

2-6.
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a. Federal False Claims Act

“Ordinarily under the=CA, ‘the government, or a party suing on its behalf, may recover
for false claims made by the defendant to secure a payment by the govetrtfidayte v. Am.
Nat. Red Cross518 F.3d 61, 63 ih.(D.C. Cir. 2008)(quotingUnited States erel. Bain v. Ga.
Gulf Corp, 386 F.3d 648, 652 (5th Cir. 2004However,‘[i]n areversefalse claim action under
.. .[Section 3729(a)(1)(G)]the defendans action does not result in improper payment by the
government to the defendant, but instead results in no payment to the government wheana paym
is obligated” 2! Id. (quoting Ga. Gulf Corp, 386 F.3d at 653).Spedfically, the federalFCA
establishes liability for any person who

knowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a falsk oestatement

material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the Government,

or knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids or decreases an
obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the Government.

31 U.S.C. 87294a)(1)(G)(2016). ThefederalFCA, as amended in 2009, defirfebligation” as

“an established duty, whether or not fixed, arising from an express or implied cohtaettar
grantee, or licensdicensee relationship, from a f#ased or similar reteonship, from statute or
regulation, or from the retention of any overpayii Id. 8 3729(b)(3).Subject to exceptions not
relevant here, a person liable under these provisions is liable to the UntesiGbtaernment for

a civil penalty”plus 3 timeghe amount of damages which the Government sustains because of

the act of that persdn.ld. § 3129(a)(1).

2010 2009, Congress amended Base Claims Act, and the relevant provisions wersurabered.
See Pencheng Si v. Laogai Research Foundafibr-. Supp. 3d 73, 86 (D.D.C. 201#4), at 88
89 (describing 2009 changes to the reverse false claim provisions).

21 The reverse false claim prigion is the only substantive provision of thEA at issue in this
case.SeeDef.’s Mot. at 22; Opm Mem. at 1920 (citing and describing the reverse false claim
provision and the retaliation provisipn
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When the Court previously denied Defendardttempt to dismiss the federal FCA claim,
the Court found that Defendastarguments were premised oncanidated version of the federal
statute SeeMem. Op.and Order, ECF No. 19, at 12n its latest motion, Defendant correctly
cites the amended version of this statute utilizing the ableseribed revised definition of the
term “obligation.” SeeDef’s Mot. at 24,27. The practical effect of the amendment was to
“broaden the meaning afbligatiori with respect to reverse false claimdfem. Op. and Order,
ECF No. 19, at 12.

Finally, thefederal FCAallows retaliation claims in connection witther provisions of
the Act:

Any employee, contractor, or agent shall be entitled to all relief necessaakéo m

that employee, contractor, or agent whole, if that employee, contractor, orsagent i

discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other manner

discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employment becdasdubf
actsdone by the employee, contractor, agent or associated wtliertherance of

an action under this section or other efforts to stop 1 or more violations of this

subchapter
31 U.S.C. 8§ 373M)(1) (2016)(emphasis added)In other words, th&CA creates a retaliation
claim in circumstances where, in addition to satisfying other criteria, arpsusiers retaliatin
as a result oflawful acts . . .in furtherance of an action under this sectiomther efforts to stop
1 or more violations of this subchaptetd. (emphasis added).

The realiation provision, which wafirst “added in 1986, wdslesigned to protect persons
who assist the discovery and prosecution of fraud and thus to improve the federal go/ernme
prospects of deterring and redressing critnéJnited State®x rel. Schweizer v. @dN.V, 677
F.3d 1228, 1237 (D.C. Cir. 201Z¢itation omitted). Most significantly, the provision was
amended in 2009 to add the final phrase in the provision, clarifying that a retaliatrarcah be

based orfother effortsto stop 1 or more violations 'othe FCA. 31 U.S.C. 83730(h)(1);see

Pencheng Si71 F. Supp. 3d at 90 (describing version of retaliation provision prior to the 2009
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amendments); Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, Pub. L1N&1, § 4a) & (d),
123 Stat. 1617, 16225 (amending retaliation provisio). These amendments significantly
broadenedhe protection tavhistleblowers under theederalFCA. United Stategx rel.Hansen
v. Deming Hosp. Corp992 F. Supp. 2d 1137, 1163 (D.N.M. 2013).
b. District of Columbia False Claims Act

The parties agree that the relevant provisions oDIGECA are the same in all material
respects as the provisions of ttezleral False Claims AcSeeDef.’s Mot. at23; Oppn Mem. at
19 n.4(“Retaliation claims under tHeCA and theDCFCA have the same elementMoreover,
the antiretaliation provisions of both Acts are nearly identiddierefore, the argumentsesented
in the instantMemorandumare applicabldo Plaintiffs FCA and DCFCA claim$) (citations
omitted). “The elements of BCFCAretaliation claim mirror, and are analyzed in a similar fashion
to, a retaliation claim arisingnde the federal False Claims Act . .” .Campbell v.District of
Columbia 972 F. Supp. 2d 38, 47 (D.D.C. 20%£3)In addition, the District of Columbia Court of
Appeals has stated thiais appropriate to look teetleral cases interpreting thexlerd FCA “for
guidance in interpreting the [DETCA.” Graysonv. AT & T Corp980 A.2d 1137, 1146 n.25 (D.C.

2009),reh’'g en banc granted, opinion vacatedart on other ground989 A.2d 709 (D.C. 2010),

22The provision was further amended in 2010 through the Foddk Act.SeeDodd+Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, Pub. L. Ne2(3,181079A(c), 124 Stat.
1376, 2079 (amending retaliation provision).

23 Amendments to th®CFCAthat became effective on March 19, 2013, aligned the District of
Columbia statute with the federal statufee Medicaid Fraud Enforcement and Recovery
Amendment Act of 2012, 2012 District of Columbia Laws2B2 (Act 19549), §2. Although
certain background activities in this case occurred before the amendmentsdopkhef acts that
form the actual basis of the retaliation claims subject to this motion occurrethaftanendments
became effective. Nor do the parties suggest anything to the corggasding the relevant
statutory provisions.
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andon reh’g en banaeissuing panel decision in patb A.3d 219 (D.C. 2011¥Grayson v. AT &
T Corp, 140 A.3d1155, 1163 n.24 (D.C. 2011).

Bearing in mind the parallel nature of the two statutes, the Court now turns tcetrantel
provisions of theCFCA.

The D.C. False Claims Act establishes dmability for any person who

[K] nowingly makes, uses, or causes to be made or used, a false record or statement
material to an obligation to pay or transmit money or property to the District, or
knowingly conceals or knowingly and improperly avoids oréases an obligation

to pay or transmit money or preqy to the District[.]

D.C. Code. 881.02(a)(6) (2017)This provision is identical to the reverfalse claim provision

of the deral False Claims Act, with the exception thatf¢iaeral FCApertains to obligations to
pay or transmit money tihe United States Governmenthile theDCFCApertains to obligations

to pay or transmit money to the District of ColumbiaCompareid., with 31 U.S.C.§
3729@)(1)(G); see alsoMedicaid Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Amendment Act of 2012,
2012 District of Columbia Laws 19-232 (Act 19-5492(8).

As discussed above in the federal FCA cont@gtendarits motion to dismiss thBCFCA
clam likewise was basedn an outdated version of the D.C. statugeeMem. Op. and Order,
ECF No. 19, at 1:23. In its latest motion, Defendant correctly cites the amended version of this
statute SeeDef.s Mot. at26-27. The amended versi@ontairs the abovedescribed revised
definition of the term‘obligatiori: “an established duty, whether or not fixed, arising from an
express or implied contractual, grangwantee, or licensdicensee relationship, from a féased
or similar relationship, from statute or regulation, or from the retention of angayveent” D.C.
Code § 2381.01(9 (2012). Again, he practical effect of the amendment was licoaden the
meaning ofobligation’ with respect to reverse false claimdem. Op. and Order, ECF No. 19,

at 12.

35



Like the ederalFCA, theDCFCAalso includes retaliation claims in relation to the other
substantive provisions of the statute:

Any employee, contractor, or agent shall be entitled to all relief necessaakéo m

that employee, contractor, or agent whole, if that employee, contractor, orsagent i

discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed, or in any other manner

discriminated against in the terms and conditions of employbes@iuse of lawful

actsdone by the employee, contractor, agent, or associated otlfiertherance of

an action under this subchapter or other efforts to stop one or more violations of
this subchapter

D.C. Code § 281.04a) (2017)(emphasis added)lust as with the substantive reverse false claim
provision, the retaliation provision of tlilEBCFCA, amended in 2013, is identical to the analogous
federal provision. Compare id. with 31 U.S.C. 8730(h)(1); see alsoMedicaid Fraud
Enforcement and Recovery Amendment Act of 2012, 2012 District of Columbia La&21(@ct
19-549), §2(d). The Court notes, oecagain, that thBCFCApertains to retaliation in connection
with violations of that act and, therefore, pertains to reverse false claims ircéonneith the
District of Columbiarather than with the United States Government.
—_—

Aretaliation claim hs“two basic elements(1) protected activity by an employee and (2)
“retaliation by the employer against the employmxause ofthose acts. Schweizer677 F.3d
at 1237 (quotingJnited States ex rel. Yesudian v. Howahdiv., 153 F.3d 731, 736 (D.CCir.
1998)) The parties have not argued that a retaliation claim is subject to differeddss in this
reverse context, nor is the Court aware of a reason to distinguish precedent ftoaditiomal
forward context. See Hoyte518 F.3d at 66 (articulatingrotected activity and causal inference
factorsin reverse FCA settingrior to 2009 changgs

As to the first element, “while the employee must be investigating matters which are
calculated, or reasonably could lead, to a viable FCA action, it is not necessamdontiff to

know that the investigation could lead to a False Claims Act Shiekoyarv. Sibley Int’] 409
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F.3d 414, 423D.C. Cir. 2005)(citations,internal quotation marksand alterations omitted);
Schwezer, 677 F.3d at 1238 (“In terms of 8 3730(h), an employee can be acting ‘in furtherance of
an action under this sectier’can be engaging in protected activitglthough the employee . . .
has no idea whether highe employee’s-investigation or other act# made known to the
government, might cause the Attorney General to sue his employer under éh€lRais Act.”).
Nonethelessan FCAsuit is not viable if it consists only of “an employee’s investigatiamodtiing
more than his employerhon-compliance with éderal or state regulations. .T.a be covered by
the Fase Claims Act, the plaintiff investigation must concern ‘false or fraudulent’ claims.”
Yesudian 153 F.3dat 740(citations omitted). Furthermore, “[tjo establish the second element,
the employee must demonstrate that the emplbgd knowledge of the employseprotected
activity and that the retaliation was motivated by the protected activ@iigkoyan409 F.3dat
422.

“[P]laintiffs alleging that performance of their normal job responsibilitiessttutes
protected activity must overcome the presumption that they are merely actingrdaace with
their employment obligations to put their employers on notidaited States ex reWilliamsyv.
Martin-Baker Aircraft @., Ltd, 389 F.3d1251, 1261D.C. Cir. 2004)internal quotation marks
omitted). “While threatening . .to make a report to the government clearly is one way to make
an employer aware, it is not the only way, as when an employee acts outside hérjolmrma
responsibilities or alerts a party outside the usual chain of command, swchraat suffice to
notify the employer that the employee is agmpg in protected activity . .”. Omwenga v. United
Nations Found.244 F. Supp. 3d 214, 218-20, 2017 WL 1154954, at *2 (D.D.C. 26itajgns,

internal quotation marksind alterations omittedge alsdchweizer677 F.3d at 1239 (focusing
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on actions that could alert employer of “reasonable possibility” of lingasuch as advising that
employer hire counsel (internal quotation marks omitted)).

2. Plaintiff HasNot Established That Hengaged in Protected Agtiy Under the Federal
FCA or DGFCA

For Plaintiff to prevail on his federal FCA and DCFCA retaliation claims, whieh a
premised on a reverse theory of the FCA, he must establish that his adwrdaciusion of the
alleged violations in his audit reports constituted efforts to stop one or more violatidms of t
respective FCAstatutes. See31 U.S.C. § 373M)(1); D.C. Code § 281.04a). There is no
evidence thaPlaintiff sought teaddresshealleged violation of the C.F.R. with a viepecifically
towardsthe possibility of Defendatd liability under the reverdeCA. But such foresight is not
necessary.Plaintiff need not have known at the time of his purported protectedtachiat his
efforts were directeat preventing an FCA violatioper se See Schweize677 F.3d at 1238;
Shekoyan409 F.3cat 422.

But at this point, Plaintiff must be able to show that the action he was trying to @ wa
violation of the FCA. Plaintiff argues thabefendarnis failure to suspengayments to Medicaid
providers who were under investigation was a violation of the F&2eOppn Mem.at21. ‘By
wanting to include théesuspended payments finding the Medicaid State Plan Auditpert,
Plaintiff made efforts to prevent Defendant from concealing an obligation to pay.the
Governmeritand ‘the D.C. Governmerit.ld. Defendansargument that it had good cause under
42 C.F.R. 8§ 455.23(a)(#9r not suspending paymentises one eason why it might not have had
such an obligation to pay the federal or D.C. governme3gsDef.’s Mot. at24-27, Reply Mem.
at 17-19 Defendant offers two specific good cause reasons foesugpension, and points out
that Plaintiff has not made areffort to rebut other good cause argumeaito available to

Defendant.See, e.g.Defs Mot. at 26;Reply Mem. atL8-19.
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As to one of its good cause argunsbefendant has described its initial efforts tepsend
at least some payment®HCF issué suspension letters that were challenged byigeos who
received thenandultimatelyreversedy administrative k judges who found those lettdosbe
deficientor otherwise found the suspension unsupportaks e.g, Def.’s Mot. at 26; Dep. of
Karen Shaw at 38:1Q1, 39:121, 40:121, 41:121, 42:113, Def’s Ex. 11, ECF No. 33; Def’s
Ex. 12, ECF No. 32 (containing administrative casgversing suspensiatue to deficient letter);
Def’s Ex. 13, No. 32, at0483 (conveying IG summary of this issue to DHCF director)
Whether and how Defendant pursued those suspensions any further is not in the record. Whether
Defendant should have pursued further seems to be beyond the scope of an inquiry teeds foc
on a finding of‘false or fradulent activity of Defendant.SeeYesudian 153 F.3d at 740If at
first DHCF did not succeed in suspending payments to those to whom it sent deficiatrwise
unsupportabléetters, it appears not to be a matter of falsehood or fraud fioy,ttry again” Nor
does Plaintiff argue it should be.

Defendants otherproffered good cause was an ongoing investigation by law enforcement.
Def.’s Mot. at 26 (citing 42 C.F.R. 455.23(e)(1) MFCU specifically requested that DHCF not
suspend payments to certain providers for fear that it wquithiemoff to an investigationSee
id.; Dep. of Karen Shaw at 69:44, 70:1-21, 71:1-2, Def's Ex. 11, ECF No. 32 (describing
investigation ind home health agenciedplaintiff’ s response is not entirely coherent, but appears
to argue that this good cause rationale is only manufactxrpdstnd that itdid not apply to all
instances of noguspension.SeeOppgn Mem. at 221; Plis Stmt.| 25. Yet, Plaintiff has not
identified any authority for the notion that Defendant must have labeled itsseffitit a good
cause exception at the time. And no one is arguing this good cause basis appliesttmedisins

in which Defendant did not suspend payment.
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Responding more generaltp Defendaris asserted good causelaintiff argues that
Defendant has not attempted to offer a good cause basis fsuapansiomf payments teach
and everyprovider who is at issue!Defendant, without offering any evidentiary support, has
assumed that the millions of dollars in D.C. Medicaid payments paid out to all the medical
providers who were referred to Defendan¥iFCU at issue was [sic] justified. Oppgn Mem. at
20 (emphasi®mitted). Although the record is not entirely clear on this point, Defendant sems
admit that it did not pursue every last providgeeDep. of Karen Shaw &t0:9-13 Def’s Ex. 11,

ECF No. 324 (“So we [DHCF] worked through the problem of the Istteeing legally deficient
and we sent out letters. But we did not send out letters every time we rafeaselto [MFCU]).

Buteven at this point, after the close of discovérgfull list of providers who were subject
to investigations not before the Court. If that list were before the Court, then the Court could
entertain lineby-line arguments as to the sufficiency of good cause arguments for not sugpendin
payments to this or that provider. Absent that list, the Court in its discretidimdbeain good
cause arguments put forward as to the class of providers under investigation. msdabkeve,
Plaintiff forewent his opportunity to rebut other possible good cause arguments teat&ref
suggests could apply to providers whose payments were not suspended.

Even if Defendant lacked good caus® to suspend paymertts one or more providers
under42 C.F.R. 8§ 455.23(a)(1Rlaintiff appears to be reporting dmothing more than his
employers norcompliance with federal or state regulag@ which is not enough to sustain an
FCA claim. See Yesudiari53 F.3d at 740. For example, one reading of the mandatory nature of
the C.F.R. provision could obligate DHCF to issue a fresh round of letters to those witasetde
letters were struckybthe administrative law judge. If it did not do so, then, on this reading of the

C.F.R., it would not be in compliance with federal regulations. But that is not enough for a
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violation that could sustain an FCA claim. Rather, as noted above, whaessagcis some
evidence of‘false or frauduleritclaims. See id. Plaintiff has not produced any evidence that
Defendants DHCF falsely or fraudulently sought Medicaid funds from the fedenatrmment
and/or from the Distri¢s general fund in order to pay providers under investigation.

It is a particularly steep challenge for Plaintifforove that he engagedprotected activity
because his efforts to raise an issue with superiorsappear to be part of his normal job
responsibilities. For example, the OfAudit Handbook defines ‘@erformance auditas “an
objective and systematic examination of evidence for the purpose of providing an iredgpend
assessment of the performanceaofjovernment organization, program, activity, or function in
order to provide information to improve public accountability and facilitate ideemsaking by
parties with responsibility to oversee or initiate corrective acti®h. s Ex. Q, ECF No. 322, at
37 (citation omitted) Plaintiff did his job of examining the evidenotpayments to Medicaid
providers,rendering his independent assessnfasta noflawyer) that DHCF was violating the
law, and facilitating decisiemaking by his superiors in Ol&s to appropriate corrective action.
As the Court already has stated in tiismorandum Opinion, Plaintiff points to no evidence that
this assessment need have been made in the audit report itself, nor that' Plauptfiors would
be violating a ruldy excluding his assessment from that report.

At no pant in the record did Plaintiftlearlysignal to his employer that he was engaging
in protected activity rather than engaging in his normal job responsibilgies auditor. See
Martin-Baker Airciaft Co., Ltd, 389 F.3cat1261. He did not, for example, appear to act outside
his normal job responsibilities, threaten that he would report the payment non-suspengi¢o is
the federal government or to the D.C. general fund, or suggest thathOlld kire counsel to

defend its actions.See Schweize677 F.3d at 12390mwenga244 F. Supp. 3d at 21H).
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Plaintiff cannot even make a goacjument thate went outside the usual chain of commé&see
Omwenga244 F. Supp. 3d at 2138). Although he did speak about thayment non-suspension
issue withMs. Kennedypossibly without his immediate superiors on one or two occadierdig
so only after speakingbout the issue six months beforehand with his immediate supefees.
Pl.’s Stmt. 11 2932. Accordingly, the record does not reflect any activity by Plaintifivioatd
raise théreasonable possibility” of litigatiorsee Schweize677 F.3d at 123%uch that OIG, and
in turn Defendant, should have known he was engagprbtected activity under the FCA even
when he did not expressly raise the FCA with them.

As a final point, the Court pauses momentarily to observe that Plaraifivity is not
really the kind for which retaliation would be expected. diseusse@n ssuerepeatedlyvith his
superiorswhether or not because of him, they took some agtienthe 1Gs letter to DHCFand
rejected other actiofn.e., including the issue in the Medicaid repaatnonth or two after his final
salvg he lost the privilge of an alternative work schedule, and a few months after that, he was
fired. He had not called public attention to the issue such that Defendant could have objected t
thenegative publicity.Seeg.g, Williamsv. Johnson701 F. Supp. 2d at 186 (nding employe's
comment the day after public testimony that it made empldyeok like ‘crooks™). Plaintiff
could have called public attention if he had included the issue in his audit reposprbet
testimonysuggests that thgayment non-suspensi@suewas removedrom the draft report even
during his time thereSeeDep. of Paul Hicks at 76:1P5, Pl's Ex. E, ECF No. 330 (Q. ... The
alleged fraud and the failure to suspend payments issue, was that ultimeteded in the audit
report? A. It was ndl); Dep. of Leroy Rose at 7/&, Pl's Ex. C, ECF No. 38 (Q. Did you
comply with upper managemeésitinstruction and remove the improper payment find, then? A. |

believe | did’); id. at 80:1320 (removing thegayment norsuspension issuavould havebeen
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prior to [Plaintiff s] departur®. If Plaintiff’s retaligion claims had survived summary judgment,
then it would be the role of the jury to weigh these facts, butappgar an ill fit for the statutory
regime governing retaliation

The Court is mindful othe “special cautiohto which aplaintiff defendingagainst a
motion for summary judgment on a retaliation clamay be entitled See Akal16 F.3d at 8780
(urgingsuch caution in discriminatiacontext) Walker, 279 F. Supp. 3d at 258 (same in DCWPA
context) But Plaintiff has noproducedcompetent eddence of protected activityat could raise
a genuindaispute of material fact sufficient to preclude summary judgm&ee Brown674F.
Supp. 2d at 188Defendant madgood cause arguments for its reuspasion of payments, and
Plaintiff hasnot put forward any evidence that Defendant nfatke or fraudulent claims to the
federal government or D.C. general fund for payment. He reported internallyadmight have
been norcompliance with laws, but he did ndearlysignal thathe was daig anything other than
exercising his normal jobesponsibilities.Any “special cautioh owed to the Plaintifloes not
warrantthe degree of solicituddhat would be required to overlook eachtloése shortfalls in
Plaintiff’ s prima facietask of estabshing protected activity.

Because Plaintiff has failed &stdlish that he engagenh protected activity under the
federal FCA and DCFCAthe Court need not reach thecond elemerdf Plaintiff's prima facie
case, namely whether OIG waware of that protected activity and retakibéecordingly. See
Shekoyan409 F.3d at 422.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CdwatebyGRANTS-IN-PART and DENIES-IN-PART

Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 32. The Cowamtgrsummary judgment

to Defendant on Plaintif§ retaliation claims under the District of Columbia Whistleblower
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Protection ActD.C. Code 88 3615.51et seq. federal False Claims AcBl U.S.C.88 3729t
seq, and District of Columbia False Claims AEL,C. Code 88 2381.01et seq The jury must
decide Plaintiffs claims of age discrimination under the Age Discrimination in Employment Ac
of 1967, as amended, 29 U.S88.621et seq.and of racial discrimination under Title VII of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 8§88 2@Geq

The CourtGRANTS Plaintiffs Motion to Seal Certain Exhibits Which Accompany
Defendants Motion and Plaintifis Opposition Thereto, ECF No.-53 Defendaris Exhibits 1,
3,4, 5, and 9 attached to Defendamiotion for Summary Judgment, ECF No. 32, shall be placed
under seal pursuant to the partiésotective Order, ECF No. 28. Plaintd#fExhibits B, D, K, L,
M, N, O, T, and aa, which accompany his Opposition to Defersldbtion for Summary
Judgment, ECF No. 33, also shall be placed under seal pursuant to théPanteesive Order.

The CourtDENIES Plaintiff's Request for an Oral Hearing, ECF No. 35.

An appropriate Order accompanies this Memorandum Opinion.
Dated: Marct80, 2018

/sl

COLLEEN KOLLAR-KOTELLY
United States District Judge
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